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PREFACE TO THE 1955 EDITION





“Scum of the Earth” was the first book that I wrote in English. It was written in January-March 1941, immediately after I had escaped from occupied France to England. My friends were either in the hands of the Gestapo, or had committed suicide, or were trapped, seemingly without hope, on the lost Continent. The agony of the French collapse was still reverberating through my mind as a scream of terror echoes in one’s ear. Within the previous four years I had been imprisoned in three different countries: in Spain, under sentence of death, during the Civil War: as a political suspect and undesirable alien in France; finally, having escaped to England with false papers at the height of the Fifth Column scare, I was locked up, pending investigation, in Pentonville Prison. The book was written in the blacked-out London of the night-blitz, in the short breathing space between Pentonville and enlistment in the Pioneer Corps. Not only time was short, but money too. Having lost all my possessions in France, I arrived in England penniless, and had to live on the advance which the original publisher of the book paid me: five pounds a week during ten weeks, plus an additional ten pounds on delivery of the manuscript, minus the cost of hiring a typewriter and sundry other expenses which were deducted from the weekly five pounds.


Re-reading the book for the first time after thirteen years, I find these outer and inner pressures reflected in its apocalyptic mood, its spontaneity and lack of polish. Some pages now appear insufferably maudlin: others are studded with clichés which at the time, however, seemed original discoveries to the innocent explorer of a new language-continent; above all the text betrays the fact that there had been no time for correcting proofs. To remedy these faults would mean to re-write the book, and that would be a pointless undertaking—for, if the book has any value, it lies in its documentary period character. I have confined myself to correcting only the most glaring gallicisms, germanisms and grammatical errors—and to throwing out adjectives and similes at a set rate of one in five.


The period character of the book is particularly evident in its political outlook. It is the romantically and naïvely Leftish outlook of the pink thirties. I had been a member of the Communist Party for seven years; I had left it in disgust and despair in 1938, but certain illusions about Soviet Russia and “the international solidarity of the working classes as the best guarantee of peace” lingered on, and are reflected throughout the book. That again is typical of the time—a time when my late friend George Orwell, who was of a less romantic disposition that I, could write that:




“… the war and the revolution are inseparable… We know very well that with its present social structure England cannot survive…. We cannot win the war without introducing Socialism. Either we turn this war into a revolutionary war or we lose it.”1





If all this is dated, other aspects of the story have, alas, remained painfully topical. The sickness of the French body politic, which led to the debacle of 1940, is again threatening to bring disaster to what remains of Europe. Many passages of the book, e.g. the outburst of Marcel, the garage mechanic (p. 56), are textually applicable to the present situation—only the word “Fascism” has to be replaced by its contemporary equivalent, “Totalitarianism.”


To protect the personages who appear in the book from Gestapo persecution, I had to camouflage them. For similar reasons certain episodes had to be passed over in silence. The friends who were hiding me from the French police in Paris (p. 163), and who succeeded in obtaining for me a travelling permit, were the late Henri Membré, secretary of the French PEN Club, and that admirable woman of letters, Adrienne Monnier. The real name of “Père Darrault” (pp. 198 ff.), is Père Pieprot, O.D., at present Secretary General of the International Congress for Criminology. “Albert” is the German-American author Gustav Regler. Among the various characters in Hut No. 33 of the concentration camp at Le Vernet, who are only referred to by initial letters, were the German Communist leaders Paul Merker and Gerhardt Eisler. Finally, there is “Mario,” about whom I must speak at some length.


Mario’s real name is Leo Valliani. He was born in 1909 at Fiume. He was seventeen, and a student of Social History, when Mussolini out-lawed the Italian Opposition and suppressed civil liberties. Valliani joined the only underground opposition party then existing in Italy: the Communists. At the age of nineteen he was arrested and deported for one year to the island of Ponza. After his release he went back to the Communist underground as a member of its committee for the Istria region. Arrested again at the age of twenty-one, he was sentenced to twelve years’ imprisonment. Of these he served six years: the other half was spared him by an amnesty. In 1936 he escaped to Paris, where he edited Que Faire? a political monthly which represented the last attempt to create a democratic opposition within the Communist International. He broke with Communism after the Stalin-Hitler pact and joined Carlo Rosseli’s movement “Justice and Liberty,” which became during the war the Italian Action Party. In October 1939 he was arrested by the French police and sent to the camp of Le Vernet, where he spent a year. In October 1940 he escaped from Le Vernet to Morocco, where he worked with the French Resistance. After a brief breathing spell in Mexico, he returned in October 1943, with British help, on a secret mission to Italy. He crossed the German lines north of Naples, and after five days reached Rome on foot. He was appointed Secretary of the illegal Action Party, which he represented in the Command of the Italian Resistance. In March-April 1945, he was one of the three members of the Central Insurrectional Committee which organised the rising against the Nazis and ordered Mussolini’s execution. In 1946 he was elected to the Constituent Assembly. Three years later he retired from politics and became a scholar again. He has since published his memoirs of the Italian Resistance and a number of books and essays, ranging from a History of the Socialist Movement to a critical evaluation of the philosophy of Benedetto Croce.


“Mario” has remained my closest friend during the fifteen years since we first met in the concentration camp. As he was still a prisoner in France at the time when I wrote “Scum of the Earth,” not only his name, but also his story, had to be camouflaged; this explains certain minor discrepancies between the biographical data in this preface and in the text.




 





The narrative ends with my arrival in 1940 in Marseilles, where I joined an escape party of British officers. For security reasons the story of our escape via Oran to Casablanca, then by fishing boat to Lisbon and thus eventually to England, could not be told at the time and there would be no point in enlarging on it to-day. It is an escape story like dozens of others that have been told since, and less eventful than most.


The last stage of this long trek to freedom was Pentonville Prison, where I spent six peaceful weeks in solitary confinement during the later part of the blitz. Most of the time—on the average fifteen to sixteen hours a day—the cell was pitch dark, because the alert usually came with the fading of daylight, and the lights in the cell were then switched off to prevent us presumptive Fifth Columnists from signalling to the raiders.


For the same reason we were not allowed to keep matches in the cell, although we were allowed to keep cigarettes. Fellow prisoners, however, taught me an ingenious method of lighting cigarettes, which I will describe for the benefit of readers who may find themselves in a similar predicament. Take a piece of cotton wool (extracted from filter-tip cigarettes) and roll a shred of silver paper into the shape of a toothpick; take the lighting bulb out of its fitting and insert the silver stick into the socket, holding the cotton wool close. This will cause a short-circuit, and with some luck and skill the cotton wool will catch the spark. If the faint glow of the wool stops before you can touch it to the cigarette, start again. Average duration until success is achieved: one hour. But in the circumstances one has plenty of time on one’s hands, and a cigarette ignited in these conditions acquires additional flavour from the pride of achievement. The silver stick has to be kept very thin, however, otherwise the fuses of the whole wing will blow and you will be put on bread and water.


The second art that I acquired in Pentonville was so-called “Marseilles chess.” It was invented by an elderly Frenchman, with a red scarf round his neck, who taught it to me during exercise hours. In this game, each player in turn makes two moves instead of one—the only restriction being that the first of the two moves should not be a check to the King. To the chess-addict this is a nerve-racking experience which shatters his outlook and upsets all his values. Hitler and the Gestapo have faded into the past, but the memory of Marseilles chess in Pentonville still makes me shudder.




 





London,


September 30, 1954 






1 George Orwell: The Lion and the Unicorn, London 1941.

























AUTHOR’S NOTE





This book was written in January-March 1941, before the German attack on Russia; yet the author sees no reason to modify his observations on the psychological effects of the Soviet-German pact of August 1939, or his opinion on the policy of the Communist Party in France. To smuggle in elements of a later knowledge when describing the mental pattern of people in an earlier period is a common temptation to writers, which should be resisted.
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‘Like the cameo cutter of Herculaneum, who, while the earth cracked and the lava bubbled and it rained ashes, calmly went on carving at his tiny plaque.’


ROBERT NEUMANN


By the Waters of Babylon








 


I


SOME time during the last years of Queen Victoria’s reign, the Prince of Monaco had an anglicized mistress who wanted a bathroom of her own. He built her a villa, with a real bathroom that had parquet flooring, and colour prints of knights in armour and ladies in bustles fed on Benger’s Food adorning all the walls. He built it at a prudent distance from his own residence in Monaco: about fifty miles up the valley of the Vésubie and only ten miles from the Italian frontier, in the parish of Roquebillière, département des Alpes-Maritimes. With the march of time and the dawn of the twentieth century, the refined courtesan became a respectable old rentière, let the bathroom decay, planted cabbage in her garden, and eventually died. For some twenty years the house stood empty and the garden ran wild.


Then, in the late nineteen-twenties, a landslide occurred in the valley of the Vésubie, which destroyed about fifty of the hundred houses of Roquebillière and killed sixty out of its five hundred inhabitants. As a result of this, ground rents in Roquebillière became very low, and in 1929 Maria Corniglion, wife of Corniglion-upon-the-Bridge, talked her husband into buying the villa with the bathroom from the defunct lady’s heirs. Ettori Corniglion was a peasant who still cultivated his five acres of land himself, with a primitive plough and a yoke of oxen, but Maria Corniglion was an enterprising woman who had brought him a respectable dowry. The Corniglions-upon-the-Bridge were well-to-do people—more so than Corniglion-the-Grocer or Corniglion-the-Butcher. Mme. Ettori Corniglion was herself born a Corniglion—for an area extending about twenty miles down the Vésubie from St. Martin one-third of the population were Corniglions. They intermarried frequently, producing a remarkable rate of cripples and idiots, and had the most imposing marble tombstones and family vaults in the graveyards of old Roquebillière, new Roquebillière, and St. Martin. The only son of Ettori and Maria Corniglion was lame; he was a schoolteacher at Lyons; during the holidays, which he spent at home, he spoke hardly a word, and read Dostoievsky and Julian Green. Their daughter was also a school-teacher; she was about thirty, rapidly becoming an old spinster, with a dark moustache which she shaved with a safety-razor. The fact that both the Corniglion children had become members of the corps d’enseignement bore testimony to Mme. Corniglion’s ambitious character. She gave another proof of it when, the year before the landslide, she had fixed to their farmhouse gate a notice with the inscription, ‘HOTEL ST. SÉBASTIEN.’ Her third remarkable achievement was the purchase of the villa. But there old Ettori put a stop to her extravagance. He would not hear of repairing and refurnishing the villa. He planted the better part of the garden with various kinds of salads and vegetables, and installed a pig in the summer house. The villa itself was not touched and stood empty for another ten years. It was altogether thirty years since the proprietress had died, and the original rats and mice had been succeeded by the three hundred and sixtieth generation of their grandchildren, when we turned up.


There were three of us: Theodore, G., and myself. We had searched the Riviera during the past three weeks, from Marseilles to Menton and up the valleys of the Basses-Alpes and of the Alpes-Maritimes, for a suitable house to live in. Although our requirements were very modest, we had not yet found the house we wanted. We had, between us, ten pounds a month to spend. We wanted a house with a bathroom. G. is a sculptor; she wanted a room suitable as a studio, with windows which would fulfil certain conditions of light. She also wanted the house to be quiet, with no neighbours and no wireless within a radius of five hundred yards, as she intended to make all the noise herself with her hammer and chisels. I wanted to finish the writing of a novel, so the house had to be old, with thick, solid walls, which would stifle the sound of G.’s hammering; my room was to be furnished very simply and soberly, like a monk’s cell, yet with a certain touch of homely comfort. Then we wanted an abode for Theodore. Theodore was a Ford born in 1929, and with a noble pedigree of eight previous owners. The third owner had fitted him with a new body, and the fifth owner with a new engine. If it is true that the human body is completely renewed every seven years by the continuous discarding and replacing of the cells constituting its vital organs, Theodore was a new car. The only inconvenience with him was that we had always to carry two gallons of water in the dickey to quench his thirst, for he was unable to contain his water in the radiator—it escaped partly skywards in steam and froth and partly earthwards through sundry leaks. Hence the garage in the house which we were looking for had to have an easy access, which would spare Theodore those jerky leaps backward and forward which particularly annoyed him—after the third change of gear he would get a fit of megalomania, and blow white steam, believing himself to be a locomotive. Besides, the exit to the garage had to be on a slope to help start the engine, for Theodore’s only response to the starter-knob was a few chuckles and hiccoughs, as if the knob tickled him. We loved Theodore very much; he was still rather good-looking, especially in profile.


We arrived at the Hotel St. Sébastien one morning at about 2 a.m. Everything was very dark and very quiet. We sounded our horn for some time and Theodore roared into the night like a hungry lion, until finally Mme. Corniglion appeared. Our acquaintance started with a mutual misunderstanding: we took the St. Sébastien for a real hotel and Mme. Corniglion took us for rich summer tourists. But next morning, when she saw Theodore, a sudden cunning look came into her old peasant eyes. She sat down at our breakfast table and after some preliminary beating about the bush, and a furtive look round as if to make sure nobody was listening, she offered to let us a villa with a garden, a bathroom, a large barn as garage, a reception-room as a studio, a quiet little attic in which the gentleman could write his poetry, and all modern conveniences. Of course, she would need a few days to clean it and arrange it, as the house had stood empty for a few weeks, owing to the illness of an aunt in Périgueux. We had a look at the house and liked it at once. It was exactly what we had been looking for.


We agreed that we would move into the house in three days. We were to have our lunch and dinner at the Hotel St. Sébastien, breakfast would be brought by a maid who would come every morning to clean up for us. We were to pay 30 francs per head a day, or £5 a month, for villa, garden, meals, service and vin à discrétion—that is to say, as much wine as we liked or were able to stand.


We intended to stay three or four months, and work and drink vin à discrétion. We were very happy. We moved into the house in the beginning of August, 1939, about the time when the puppet Senate of Danzig decided its attachment to the Reich.


II


A company of shabby French soldiers was sitting in the sun on a wall covered with wild vine, dangling their legs. They rolled cigarettes and threw stones for a black mongrel dog. It was a funny little dog and they called it Daladier. ‘Vas-y, Daladier,’ they said, ‘dépêche-toi. ‘Cours, mon vieux, faut gagner ton bifteck.’ When we turned up in the car, they did not seem embarrassed. They made some joking remarks about Theodore, steaming and spitting as usual after the brisk ascent, and then went on urging Daladier to run and earn his daily bifteck. They spoke French to us and to the dog, but amongst themselves they spoke a kind of Italian, the special Italian patois of the region.


All the sleepy, age-old mountain villages of the Maritime Alps north of the Riviera were now packed with soldiers—grumbling, drinking red wine, playing belotte, and bored. We were on the road again, waiting for our house to be prepared for us; with poor Theodore, we climbed the tortuous by-roads indicated on the Michelin map by a dotted line with a green border—the dotted line meant ‘danger’ and the green border ‘picturesque view.’ There was Gorbio and St. Dalmas and St. Agnès and Valdeblore and Castellar—they all looked the same; eagle nests on bare rocks, carved out of the rocks, built of the products of the decaying rocks, stone, and clay. The houses, with stone walls as thick as medieval fortresses, were built on different levels, the ground floor of one row on a level with the upper floor of the row across the street, and some of the streets were actually tunnels, carrying enormous vaults, cool and dim in the blazing sunshine, like Arabian souks. But no one walked through these streets except a furtive cat, a herd of goats, or a very old woman in black, dry and twisted like the dead branches of an olive tree. When one climbed to the top of the village, one saw the neck-breaking serpentine road by which one had just come, and two thousand feet below, the valley; and far behind the decreasing mountains, the sea with Nice and the Cap d’Antibes and Monte Carlo, veiled by the mist. There lay the Shore of Vanity, and here was the realm of the Sleeping Beauty; but of an Italian Sleeping Beauty of the mountain, lying hidden behind a rock, bare-footed, with dry mud between her toes, with tangled, black gypsy hair straggling over her young and yet wrinkled face, and a goat’s-skin bottle of acid red wine warming on the hot rock within reach. Thus we had found St. Agnès and Gorbio and Castellar a year before; but now the soldiers had invaded the mountains, they had stretched barbed wire across the pasture and installed machine-guns and field-kitchens on the olive-tree terrasses. And they had woken the Sleeping Beauty by telling her that the French were going to fight the Italians because the Germans wanted a town in Poland. But, as she did not believe it, they offered her red wine and tickled her bare heels to pass the time.


We talked to many of the soldiers. They were sick of the war before it had started. They were peasants, and harvest time was approaching; they wanted to go home and did not care a bean for Danzig and the Corridor. The majority of them came from the Italian-speaking districts of the frontier region. They had become, in their habits of life, more French than they were consciously aware; they thought that Mussolini with his big gueule was a rather ridiculous figure and that all that Blackshirt business which began just beyond the next mountain ridge was a sort of comic opera. They rather liked La France, but they did not actually love her; they rather disliked Hitler for all the unrest he created, but they did not actually hate him. The only thing they really hated was the idea of war—and of any sort of political creed which might lead to war. And this was the point where these descendants of Italian emigrants had become most strikingly French: they had acquired very quickly the average Frenchman’s conviction that politics were a racket, that to become a Deputy or Minister was only a form of earning one’s bifteck and rather a fat one; that all political ideals and ‘isms’ were a matter of salesmanship and that the only thing a sensible man could do was to follow the advice of Candide and cultivate one’s little garden.


Why, for what reason on earth, should they die for Danzig? The newspapers which they read—the Eclaireur du Sud-Est and Paris-Soir and Petit Parisien—had explained to them during all these years that it was not worth while to sacrifice French lives for the sake of the Negus or for the sake of some Schuschnigg or some Negrin or Dr. Beneš. The newspapers had explained to them that only the warmongers of the Left wanted to precipitate France into such an abyss. They had explained to them that Democracy and Collective Security and the League of Nations were all beautiful ideas, but that anybody who wanted to stand up for these ideas was an enemy of France. And now the same newspapers all of a sudden wanted to convince them that their duty was to fight and die for things which only yesterday had not been worth fighting for; and they proved it with exactly the same arguments which only yesterday they had ridiculed and abused. Fortunately, the soldiers only read the crime and sporting pages. They had learned long ago that everything in the editorials was tripe and eyewash.


I wonder whether the French Command knew much about the morale of their troops. Perhaps they preferred not to investigate too closely, and thought things would be all right once the actual fighting started. I have lost my diary with everything else in France, but I remember writing in it on the day when the invasion of Poland began: ‘This war starts in the moral climate of 1917.’


There was only one consideration which prevented the average French soldier from looking at the war as complete madness and which gave him at least a vague notion of what it was about: it was summed up in the slogan, ‘Il faut en finir.’ His ideals had been gutted during the disastrous years of Bonnet-Laval-Flandin statesmanship; the cynicism of the Munich era had destroyed any creed worth fighting for; but he had been mobilised three times during the past few years and he was sick of having to leave his job and his family every six months and to be sent home again after a few weeks, feeling ridiculous and cheated. It was time ‘pour en finir’—to put an end to it once and for all. ‘Il faut en finir’ was the only popular slogan, but it carried no real conviction. It was the grumbling of an utterly exasperated person rather than a programme for which to die. To fight a war only for the purpose of ending the danger of war is an absurdity—as if a person condemned to sit on a powder-barrel should blow himself up deliberately, out of sheer annoyance at not being allowed to smoke his pipe.


And on top of all this they did not, of course, believe that there really would be a war. It was just another bluff, and in due time there would be another Munich. The newspapers would again do a complete about-turn, and nicely explain that it was not worth while dying for Danzig. Marcel Déat had already done so in L’Œuvre. And so another lump of Europe’s bleeding flesh would be thrown to the monster to keep him quiet for six months—and another lump next spring and another next autumn. And, for all one knew, in due time the monster might die a natural death of indigestion.


So far France had not fared too badly by sacrificing her allies. ‘Tout est perdu sauf l’honneur,’ a noble Frenchman had once said. Now he could say: ‘Nous n’avons rien perdu sauf l’honneur.’


III


We moved into our house. It was a complete success.


At seven o’clock in the morning Teresa, the maidservant at the Hotel St. Sébastien, would bring us our breakfast. She was a dark and stolid young woman who worked sixteen hours a day for a salary of 50 francs, or 5s. 6d. a month. Sometimes Teresa was too busy, and then our breakfast would be brought by the Corniglion’s daughter, the schoolmistress, with freshly shaved upper-lip. After breakfast we went to watch Teresa feed the pig in the summer-house. The summer-house was so narrow that the pig could hardly turn round; just eat and digest and sleep. We had never seen such a fascinating disgusting pig. Then we walked knee-deep through the wet grass on the lawn and inspected our fig-tree. There were seventeen figs on the tree in different stages of ripeness, mostly on the topmost branches; we kept an eye on them and shot them down with stones when we judged them nearly ripe, before Mme. Corniglion, who also had her eye on them, had time to collect them. Then we worked until noon, and walked down to the hotel for lunch and vin à discrétion. Then came the siesta, and work again until the hour of the apéritif. Theodore was allowed a long rest and slept peacefully in his barn; his tyres were deflated and he looked shrunken, like very old people do; from time to time we would sound the claxon to see whether he were still alive.


We were very happy. All was quiet in the country of the Sleeping Beauty. True, those noisy garrisons had woken her, but she was still drowsily rubbing her eyes and yawning and stretching, and just put out her tongue at the growling monster. No, there would be no war. We would sacrifice another piece of our honneur—who cares for honneur, anyway?—and go on playing belotte. And writing novels and carving stones, and cultivating our garden, like sensible people should do during their short stay on this earth. Besides, Hitler couldn’t fight against the Soviets and the West simultaneously. And if the West made a firm stand this time, the Soviets would come in at once. There would be no war. You had only to repeat it sufficiently often, until you were sick of hearing yourself say it.


And all the time we knew that this was our last summer for a long time, and perhaps for ever.




 





By the middle of August green-and-yellow posters appeared on the town hall of Roquebillière, calling up the men of Categories 3 and 4 to join their regiments within forty-eight hours. Little groups of people collected in front of the posters, and the younger women appeared at the village shop with swollen eyes, and the older women, the widows of 1914, walked down the street in their black clothes with a gloomy and triumphant look.


Then the annual kermesse in honour of the local patron saint was cancelled. The dancing-floor was dismantled and the flagpoles pulled down.


And one Sunday morning a persistent cloud of dust hung in the air and a continuous confused noise of bleating and lowing and barking came down the hillside; the sheep and goats and cattle were returning from their pastures on the Italian frontier. The whole village gathered at the bridge to see them pass. It was a long procession, with tired, cursing shepherds, and sheep bleating incessantly, pushing and jostling each other in a general and senseless panic. The people at the bridge looked as if they were watching a funeral procession.


And yet there would be no war. We had to reassure, not only ourselves, but also the Corniglions and the village people who asked us our opinion, for, being foreigners and educated people, we must know. Our presence alone was a reassurance for them; if there had been a real danger of war, we would have gone home. Every morning, after bringing us our breakfast and feeding the pig, Teresa had to report to the butcher whether we really were still in the villa. We had become a sort of talisman for the people of Roquebillière.


The days passed. We tried to work. Telephone calls came from friends on the Riviera: they were leaving; everybody was leaving. We jeered at the paniquards. Last year at the time of Munich, G. had cut short her stay in Florence and I had cancelled a journey to Mexico at the last minute. This time we would not let ourselves be fooled.


There were still five or six guests at the Hotel St. Sébastien, who packed and unpacked their suitcases according to the latest news on the wireless: an asthmatic priest from Savoy, gloomy and congested-looking, who reminded one of those medieval mountain curés in the uncanny novels of Georges Bernanos. Then an Italian wine-merchant from Marseilles and a petty-officer’s widow from Toulon with three plain but coquettish daughters, the eldest liable to fits of hysterics. They all had their meals together at a long table in the dining-room; we preferred to eat on the terrace, even when it rained, to escape their company.


But we could not avoid the inmates of the asylum on the road below our villa. It was the regional asylum for the aged paupers, and for all cripples, village idiots, and harmless lunatics of the villages round about. It stood on the way from our villa to the hotel, and some of its inmates were always sitting in front of the institution on a wooden bench under a painted crucifix. There was Aunt Marie, knitting an invisible jumper with invisible wool; and the other old woman, wagging her shrunken head, not much larger than a grapefruit; and a third one, making faces and telling a funny story to which nobody listened; and a silent, always neatly dressed man with beautiful hands and a noseless death’s head. We had to pass them four times a day, on our way to the St. Sébastien and back, and they always stared at us in visible disgust. During daytime we tried not to notice; but we did not like walking past the asylum at night.


It was a strange place, Roquebillière. The houses destroyed by the landslide in 1926 had never been rebuilt and the débris had not been cleared away. Although the disaster had happened thirteen years before, half of the village consisted of the empty shells of abandoned houses and heaps of rubbish. They said there was no money to reconstruct it and to clear away the rubbish, but they had erected a large marble slab, like a war memorial, at the entry of the village, with all the names of the victims carved on it, mostly Corniglions.


They seemed to cherish the memory of la catastrophe. When we were still new to Roquebillière and heard the standard expression, ‘Il a péri pendant la catastrophe,’ uttered with a certain pride, we thought they meant the War of 1914. The inscription on the marble slab was composed in a tone of patriotic reproach. They felt that God had assumed a debt towards Roquebillière, and that he alone could be expected to do something about it.


In the year after the landslide, however, some of the younger men of Roquebillière embarked upon a truly extraordinary enterprise. They had heard of the rain of gold pouring down on the Riviera; and they wondered why the same thing should not happen in the valley of the Vésubie. They had received a fair sum from departmental and Government relief funds; so, instead of rebuilding Old Roquebillière, they decided to build a New Roquebillière a mile or so across the valley on the other side of the Vésubie, and to make it a fashionable holiday resort, a kind of Juan-les-Pins or Grasse. They found some estate agents to back them up and got to work. Two years later new signposts appeared all along the road from St. Martin du Var up the Valley:


TOURISTES!


VISITEZ LA NOUVELLE ROQUEBILLIÈRE,


LA PERLE DE LA VÉSUBIE—à 4 Klm.




 





The Pearl of the Vésubie had about a hundred and fifty inhabitants, but accommodation for five hundred tourists. There were three hotels and an American bar, two fancy shops and another shop for souvenirs, and a town hall with an electric clock like a railway station. Everything was ready for the tourists, but the tourists did not come. They waited for them, first hopefully, then with growing despair, and finally they resigned themselves. Some of the pioneers went back to Old Roquebillière, the others just stayed on. Like ghosts in a deserted gold-digging town of Alaska, they shuffled through the asphalt streets, past the closed American bar and the closed fancy shops. They had as much use for the pretentious town they lived in as a miner’s wife for an evening dress; but it had swallowed up all their money and there was none left to tidy up the débris of their former home; so they put their last pennies together and erected the marble memorial as a double reproach to Fate.


It took us quite a time to discover that the main reason for the misfortunes of Roquebillière was its climate. The mornings were radiant, but at about four in the afternoon the sky over the valley would become grey and leaden. The atmospheric tension made us tired and irritable; once a week a crashing thunderstorm would clear the sky, but usually all the promising thunder and lightning ended in a miscarriage and the oppression remained.


Perhaps it was all the fault of the ogre—an enormous dark mountain on the other side of the valley, obstructing and dominating it and bending over it, as if to watch malevolently from above the clouds what was going on down below. The ogre had a strange outline; a large crack in the rock had thrown open its huge, man-eating mouth, with a single jagged tooth sticking out of the gaping lower jaw. We could escape the newspapers, switch off the wireless, and turn away our eyes when we passed the lunatics—but the ogre was always there, especially at night, watching us and watching the valley.


This Roquebillière had become a sinister, depressing place. Perhaps it had always been so, but now we saw it with different eyes. We knew it was our last summer, and everything around us assumed a dark, symbolical meaning. Yet it was still August, and the sun was still vigorous and bright and the figs went on ripening in our garden. We had never loved France as we loved it in those late August days; we had never been so achingly conscious of its sweetness and decay. 


IV


I am definitely Continental: that is, I always feel the urge to underline a dramatic situation by a dramatic gesture. G. is definitely English: that is, she always feels the urge to suppress the original urge; and usually this second reflex precedes the first.


When, on August 23rd, I saw the inconspicuous Havas message on the third page of the Eclaireur du Sud-Est, saying that a treaty of non-aggression had been signed between Germany and the Soviet Union, I began beating my temples with my fits. The paper had just arrived. I had opened it while we were walking down to the St. Sébastien for lunch. ‘What is the matter?’ said G. ‘This is the end, I said. ‘Stalin has joined Hitler.’ He would,’ said G., and that was all.


I tried to explain to her what it meant—to the world in general and to me and my friends in particular. What it meant to that better, optimistic half of humanity which was called the Left because it believed in social evolution and which, however opposed to the methods employed by Stalin and his disciples, still consciously or unconsciously believed that Russia was the only promising social experiment in this wretched century. I myself had been a Communist for seven years; I had paid dearly for it; I had left the Party in disgust just eighteen months ago. Some of my friends had done the same; some were still hesitating; many of them had been shot or imprisoned in Russia. We had realised that Stalinism had soiled and compromised the Socialist Utopia as the Medieval Church had soiled and compromised Christianity; that Trotsky, although more appealing as a person, was in his methods not better than his opponent; that the central evil of Bolshevism was its unconditional adaptation of the tenet that the End justifies the Means; that a well-meaning dictatorship of the Torquemada-Robespierre-Stalin ascendancy was even more disastrous in its effect than a naked tyranny of the Neronian type; that all the parties of the Left had outlived their time, and that one day a new movement was to emerge from the deluge, whose preachers would probably wear monks’ cowls and walk barefoot on the roads of a Europe in ruins. We had realised all this and had turned our backs on Russia, yet wherever we turned our eyes for comfort we found none; and so, in the back of our minds there remained a faint hope that perhaps and after all it was we who were in the wrong and that in the long run it was the Russians who were in the right. Our feelings towards Russia were rather like those of a man who has divorced a much-beloved wife; he hates her and yet it is a sort of consolation for him to know that she is still there, on the same planet, still young and alive.


But now she was dead. No death is so sad and final as the death of an illusion. The first moment after receiving a blow one does not suffer; but one knows already that soon the suffering will start. While I was reading that Havas notice, I was not depressed, only excited; but I knew that I would be depressed tomorrow and the day after tomorrow, and that this feeling of bitterness would not leave me for months and perhaps for years to come; and that millions of people, representing that more optimistic half of humanity, would perhaps never recover from this depression, although not consciously aware of its reason. Every period has its dominant religion and hope; only very rarely, in its darkest moments, has humanity been left without a specific faith to live and die for. A war was to be fought. They would fight, the men of the Left, but they would fight in bitterness and despair; for it is hard for men to fight if they only know what they are fighting against and not what they are fighting for.


This is what I tried to explain to G., who was born in the year of the Treaty of Versailles and could not understand why a man of thirty-five should make such a fuss at the funeral of his illusions—belonging, as she did, to a generation with none.


Next morning, August 24th, the news had spread from the third to the front page. We were spared none of the details. We read about von Ribbentrop’s lightning visit to Moscow and about his cordial reception—and I remembered what fun our Party papers had made of the ex-commercial traveller in champagne who had been promoted chief diplomatic salesman of Genuine Old Red Scare, bottled in Château Berchtesgaden. We learned all the picturesque details of how the swastika had been hoisted over the Moscow aerodrome and how the band of the revolutionary Army had played the Horst Wessel song—and I remembered the whispered explanations of the Party officials after the execution of Tukhachevsky and the other Red Army leaders. The official explanation (Version A, for the pious and simple-minded) stated that they were ordinary traitors; Version B (for the intelligentsia and for inside use) informed us that, although not exactly traitors, they had advocated a policy of understanding with the Nazis against the Western Democracies; so, of course, Stalin was right to shoot them. We learned of the monstrous paragraph 3 of the new treaty,1 a direct encouragement to Germany to attack Poland—and I wondered how this time the Party was to explain this latest achievement of Socialist statesmanship to the innocent masses. Next morning we knew it: Humanité, official organ of the French Communist Party, explained to us that the new treaty was a supreme effort of Stalin to prevent the threatening imperialist war. Oh, they had an explanation ready for every occasion, from the extension of capital punishment to the twelve-year-old to the abolition of the Soviet workers’ right to strike and to the one-party-election-system; they called it ‘revolutionary dialectics’ and reminded one of those conjurers on the stage who can produce an egg from every pocket of their frockcoats and even out of the harmless onlooker’s nose. They explained everything so well that, during a committee meeting, old Heinrich Mann, at one time a great ‘sympathiser,’ shouted to Dahlem, leader of the German Communists: ‘If you go on asking me to realise that this table here is a fishpond, then I am afraid my dialectical capacities are at an end.’


Poor old Heinrich Mann—and André Gide and Romain Rolland and Dos Passos and Bernard Shaw: I wondered how they would react to the news. How clever those conjurers had been to produce eggs out of the noses of the intellectual élite all over the world. And all the old workers of Citroën and the young workers in the dungeon of the Gestapo and the Members of the Left Book Club in Bournemouth and the dead in the mass-graves of Spain—we had all been taken in all right in the greatest farce the world had ever seen.


It was a bright, sunny day, this August 24th, 1939. I read the paper as usual while we were walking down to the St. Sébastien for lunch. I gesticulated and spoke very loudly. Aunt Marie, sitting in the sun and knitting busily her invisible jumper, gave us a shocked look as we passed the asylum.


V


There was an exhibition of Spanish paintings in the Musée National in Geneva. It consisted of the works from the Prado, which had been sent to Switzerland by the Spanish Government during the civil war. The exhibition was to be closed on August 31st; G. wanted to see it. I tried to persuade her that it was foolish to go abroad when the war might start from one day to another. But she said: Just because of that; it was perhaps her last chance to see the works of the Prado and nothing would prevent her doing it. So she left—on Friday, August 25th, exactly one week before the Germans invaded Poland. She was probably the only person in Europe at that time who went abroad to see the exhibition in Geneva.


I saw her to the cross-country bus for Nice, which was packed with panic-striken people evacuated from the frontier zone; I shoved her small suitcase on top of the heap of mattresses, frying-pans and canary cages on the roof; then the bus left.


It was five o’clock in the afternoon; I walked slowly back to our villa. So far G.’s presence had protected me from becoming fully conscious of what was going on. She had the post-Versailles generation’s typical way of taking for granted that this world was a hopeless mess; but this innate lack of illusions, instead of making her cynical, produced a sort of cheerful fatalism which made me, with my chronic political despair, feel like a sentimental, middle-aged Don Quixote. She had ridiculed me for drugging myself by buying all available newspapers and listening to all available stations on the wireless, and this fear of appearing ridiculous had a rather sedative effect. But now I was left alone and fell back into the grip of the drug.


On Saturday, August 26th, new posters appeared on the town hall: Categories 2, 6 and 7 were called up simultaneously. This meant practically general mobilisation; there was but one category of reservists left. I spent nearly the entire day in the Corniglions’ kitchen, where the wireless set was installed next to the large, old-fashioned kitchen range. The widow with the three daughters and the wine merchant and the asthmatic priest had all left the day before; the St. Sébastien had ceased to be an hotel and had become a farmhouse again. Teresa had taken off her shoes and stockings, and the wireless had returned to the kitchen. While Mme. Corniglion cooked on the kitchen range and old Ettori drank his pint of wine, I translated to them the news from Berlin and London; the odds for peace and war seemed now to change from hour to hour, and old Ettori said it reminded him of the way his grandmother used to cure chilblains by making him put his feet alternately in a bucket of cold and in a bucket of hot water. In the afternoon more evacuees came from the frontier, in packed cars, lorries and mule-carts; their luggage consisted mainly of mattresses and frying-pans, as if to demonstrate that humanity was going to be reduced to the mere satisfaction of her two primary needs. Late in the evening a telegram from G. came from Geneva, announcing her return for tomorrow, Sunday, night. I was relieved and had at the same time a feeling of mild I-told-you-so superiority: the telegram sounded neither fatalistic nor cheerful.


I had given up all efforts to force myself to work. Curiously enough, the novel which I was writing had its setting in Russia, more exactly in a Soviet prison;1 a few days before I had just finished a long dialogue, in the course of which the examining magistrate says:




‘We did not recoil from betraying our friends and compromising with our enemies, in order to preserve the Bastion. That was the task which history has given us, the representatives of the first victorious revolution.’





It was no concidence—just the hidden logic of events. Yet I wondered whether Cassandra felt any happier when the logic of events actually brought the Greeks to Troy.


So I spent most of the next day—Sunday, the 27th—in the Corniglions’ kitchen. Old Corniglion, too, for the first time since days immemorial, had not gone out to work in his fields; he sat next to the hearth, looking miserable and oddly out of place. I had become part of the family; we sat mostly in a mournful silence, a gathering of casualties of the guerre des nerfs.


After dinner I started up our weary Theodore to go and fetch G. from the railway station in Nice, I had plenty of time; the train was only due to arrive at about midnight; so I chose a secondary road over a mountain pass which we had always intended to explore. It was a moonlit night, the road utterly deserted and the villages I passed already asleep, with only an occasional window lit by an oil lamp inside. I stopped Theodore on the top of the pass and let the moonlight and the silence and the mountain air envelop us like a cool and soothing bath; and I remembered nights like this driving home to Malaga from the Andalusian front; and I wondered how soon we all would again curse the full moon and the stars, and pray for nights with fog and rain to hide the men of the earth from the men prowling between the clouds.


Eventually we descended on Nice about midnight. I had to wait for nearly an hour for the train, which was, of course, late—I think trains always rejoice in wars, which provide them with an excuse to shake off the wearisome fetters of the time-table and proceed at last at their leisure. There was an elderly Riviera-Englishman on the platform, waiting for his wife and children to arrive; after pacing up and down for half an hour past one another, we had a drink together at the buffet. He was as depressed as I, and confessed that, although for years he had been furious because we didn’t make a stand against the Axis, now that we were at last going to do it, he could hardly suppress a shameful wish to go on with the old, disastrous muddle. I know it is idiotic and criminal yet I almost want to say: For God’s sake give that bastard all he asks for—Danzig and Eupen and colonies and what not, and let us hear no more about him.’ I agreed that most of us were liable to the same sort of suicidal temptation:


‘It is the old story of going to the dentist to have a tooth extracted—at the moment of ringing the bell it stops aching, and one wonders whether it is worth while suffering the agony of the operation. Yet if we do not, the infection will gain the jaw, and eventually the whole body.’ I thought it was quite a good metaphor, but it did not sound convincing.


Eventually G. arrived, and on the way back we decided to stop pretending, and go home to Paris next day. She had travelled thirty-six hours to Geneva and back, and had only been able to spend two or three at the Exhibition—yet she didn’t regret the trouble and was quite content to have at least had a sight of the Prado treasures. For me in her place, the pleasure of seeing what I could see would have been poisoned by the regret of missing what I couldn’t.


VI


And so, after all, we too started packing.


It took us all the next day, and it was a melancholy business. G. had portrayed me in clay, and the life-sized head had to be stowed with much care and fuss in the depths of Theodore, and secured against the impact of the rest of the luggage. We eventually brought it safely to Paris with only one ear missing and the lips smeared together into a Mephistophelian grin—and it was grinning still when the Gestapo took it away in a removal van ten months later, together with my manuscripts, books and furniture, rugs and lamps included, from my Paris flat.


We dawdled over our packing, still hoping that some miracle might happen at the last minute, which would allow us to unpack again. How many people in Europe turned on the wireless on that Tuesday morning, August 29th, in the secret hope that overnight a benevolent stroke had killed the man whose disappearance would perhaps enable them to carry on with their mediocre and, in retrospect, oh, so pleasant existence! Instead, they were admonished in every language of the world to gird up their loins. They sighed, incredulous; they had lived so long under the sign of the Umbrella that they found it difficult to believe that the age of the Sword had come.


We finally left on Tuesday evening, when all pretexts to postpone our departure had been exhausted.


There were still three figs left on the tree in our garden. When we had manœuvred through the gate and turned our heads, the villa looked already as though no one had ever lived within its walls. We passed the asylum, but the bench under the crucifix was empty; Aunt Marie and the man with the death’s head had gone inside. We rolled over the bridge and waved to the Corniglions, but they did not see us; they were probably gathered for dinner in the kitchen, sitting by the hearth. The street was empty and none of the people of Roquebillière were there to wave us good-bye.


I stepped on the gas and we sped out of the village, feeling like deserters. While I write these lines, the Blackshirts are sitting in the garden of the Prince’s late mistress; they have probably killed the pig and picked the figs from the trees and put Teresa in the family way.


We passed the night in a deserted hotel in a deserted Nice; and all through the night we heard the plaintive neighing of horses which had been requisitioned for the Army and stood crowded together under the archways of the Casino Municipal. We had intended next day to push on our homeward way as far as Avignon; but early in the morning I went down to buy the Eclaireur du Sud-Est, and when I had finished reading the editorial I ran up the stairs like a madman to break to G. the news that there would be no war.


The Eclaireur was one of the important provincial newspapers of France; it was outspokenly sympathetic towards the de La Rocque and Doriot movements and supported the policy of Bonnet (who was still Minister of Foreign Affairs). In the previous weeks, during the dramatic crescendo of the European crisis, it had taken a line of uncompromising firmness towards Hitler’s Polish demands—according to the mots d’ordres from the Quai d’Orsay. In times of emergency, the Quai d’Orsay always exercised a kind of silently accepted dictatorship over the Press, which showed in such moments a considerable capacity for national discipline.


And now on this Wednesday, August 30th, when the German ultimatum to Poland was already on its way, the Eclaireur du Sud-Est suddenly advocated peace at any price. There was nothing in the German demands, it said, which could not be settled by peaceful negotiation. I remember particularly one sentence which said that it was time to abandon a certain number of outworn conceptions and alliances, and dig deep in our pockets if we wanted to ensure a really lasting peace. And so on over two columns, in heavy type, large spacing, front page.


It seemed impossible that the editorialist of the paper had dared to write this off his own bat, at the climax of the crisis. Something must have happened during the night; the article was obviously inspired from high quarters. The Paris morning papers would not arrive until late in the evening and the wireless gave only news bulletins without commentary. Had I not been a journalist, I would probably not have paid much attention to the article; but as I knew how carefully a sensational statement of this sort would be concocted in the Editor’s office, I was convinced that Bonnet had once more sacrificed the honneur of France and that the war was called off.


Twenty-four hours later the Eclaireur published a tortuous apology and became firm and patriotic again. As to its readers, I wondered how M. Dupont was going to die, if he was to die, in the defence of liberty, after this kind of moral preparation. It was only after the collapse of France, when a stupefied world learned how France’s Minister for Foreign Affairs had tried to double-cross his Allies and his own Premier in the very last six hours before he declared war, that I realised the meaning and the background of that typical episode.


Anyhow, the Eclaireur had provided us with a pretext to linger for another couple of days on the Mediterranean; so, instead of leaving for Paris, we went in the opposite direction, towards Menton, to pay a visit to a friend—a vaguely Turkish princess who had married an ex-croupier of the Casino in Monte Carlo and ran a second-rate hotel on the Cap Martin. We arrived about tea-time to find the last guest gone, and the princess and M. Robert, the ex-croupier, quarrelling hysterically. In the course of the discussion, it transpired that they were never married, that the Turkish princess apparently had an Italian passport and that, fearing internment, she threatened M. Robert to leave for Italy if he didn’t marry her on the spot, after having for fifteen years lived peacefully in sin. Eventually the discussion was postponed and we all listened to the wireless. For dinner a friend of M. Robert’s turned up, a M. de Something, who had been mobilised a few days before and was posted in one of the frontier forts near by. He wore a crumpled lieutenant’s uniform, and was unshaven and bad-tempered. He complained of the pagaille—muddle—in the fortress, the dampness of the concrete, which gave the men rheumatic pains, and told us an incredible story to the effect that more than half of the shells in the munition depot were the wrong size and did not fit the guns. At that time I did not believe it, but later on I heard several stories of the same kind, particularly about the blockhouses of the so-called Extended Maginot Line.


After a few glasses of wine, the lieutenant cheered up a little and explained to us that, in the event of Italy remaining neutral, she would be presented with an ultimatum to let the French troops pass for an outflanking attack on Germany. He said he knew this from a most reliable source; and he had even heard of a witty bon mot by Gamelin himself:


‘To force my way through a hostile Italy,’ the Generalissimo had said, ‘I need ten divisions. To secure the frontier against a neutral Italy, I need fifteen divisions. To help an allied Italy out of the mess, I need twenty divisions. So let’s declare war on them.’


Next morning the Gendarmerie at Cap Martin was pasted all over with posters on black-out regulations and air raid precautions. I drove to a garage and had the headlights painted blue. Poor Theodore looked like a blind old man with blue spectacles out of The Beggar’s Opera.


The Cap Martin, a tongue of land stretched towards the Italian shore, was buzzing with troops, lorries, and armoured cars. Six light tanks stood tidily parked on the parking place in front of the Hotel Splendide, looking like wolves in a sheep-pen. The elegant sheep of the mechanical fauna had mainly disappeared, requisitioned by the Army.


At lunch we learned the details of the German ultimatum. Then we got hold of the Eclaireur. It was eating its words of the previous day and bursting with gloire and bellicosity. So now it really was time to leave. We said good-bye to the princess and M. Robert, and set out on the road to Paris.


The night from Thursday to Friday we had to spend in St. Tropez, owing to a series of punctures. Next morning we went on and stopped for lunch in Le Lavandou. We found a place called ‘Le Restaurant des Pêcheurs’—one of those enchanting little inns which make one remember meals in France like gaily-coloured landmarks of the past. We had a bouillabaisse with mussels and langouste and saffron, and an omelette aux fines herbes which made one smell the wet grass of an Alpine meadow in the sunshine; and then the waitress came in with the entrecôte, and said in a flat voice, while arranging the dishes on the table: ‘They have just announced on the wireless that early this morning the Germans opened fire on Poland. The Government has decreed general mobilisation.’


There was only an old couple in the restaurant apart from us, sitting at a neighbouring table. They were both in black, and the woman, with protruding, red-veined eyes, nodded to us in mournful reproach. She had eaten and drunken an enormous amount without losing her mournful look—the type of Frenchwoman who already as a bride has the future widow written on her face. She went on nodding at us in silence, and it seemed to me that with her appraising eyes she tried to divine what G. would look like with a black veil. One felt that a great time began for her now, a sort of Indian summer blooming, nourished by the black saps of general despair.


It was at that moment—at 1 p.m. on Friday, September 1st, 1939, at the Restaurant des Pêcheurs at Lavandou—that the war began for us. In my memory that hour is marked as a thin black line, like the Equator on a map, separating the sphere of the pleasant and trivial Past from the age of the Apocalypse, which is still the Present.


VII


We arrived at Toulon in the afternoon, its narrow, tortuous streets in hectic effervescence. In the hall of the Havas building a crowd had gathered to read the latest news, but there was very little discussion and nothing in the atmosphere which could be compared with that of the drunken crowds of the August days of 1914. We drove to a garage to buy a new tyre, and there the patronne told us triumphantly that France had presented a short-termed ultimatum to Italy, that French troops had penetrated twenty miles into Italian territory, that King Victor Emmanuel had abdicated in favour of Prince Umberto, obviously with a view to removing Mussolini from his post. The news came from a so-to-speak official source; the adjudant from the Gendarmerie, a friend of her husband’s, had just told her. At first we were rather incredulous, but she told the story so convincingly and with such matter-of-fact details, that finally I too was convinced. So, at last, after seven years of humiliation and disgrace, the hour of the Democracies had come: they had struck—and with what speed, with what efficiency! I became quite drunk with joy and explained solemnly to G. that this was more than a strategic move—it was a turning point in history, the renaissance of the era of Liberalism. I was annoyed when she remained sceptical.


My illusions lasted until Aix-en-Provence, where we arrived just in time to hear the trite, colourless communiqués of the eight o’clock news. It was very depressing. For the first time in this war I had been taken in by a bobard—a false rumour—and, in spite of the professional caution of one who had been a newspaper correspondent since the age of twenty, it happened several times again; the last time was shortly after the fall of Paris, when for a few hours people all over France believed that the longed-for miracle had come to pass and Russia had declared war on Germany. Each time the bobard was set rolling so cleverly, with the psychological moment so well chosen, and so devastating in the moral effect caused by the disappointment, that the assumption of deliberate Fifth Column work was hard to dismiss, even for people with no fondness for spy stories.


The cafés in Aix were crowded; there were a lot of soldiers about and quite a number of them were drunk; they looked, in their unbecoming uniform, made of a very inferior material, and with their traditionally unshaven faces—hence the word poilu—as if they had already been in the forefront of the battle. We sat down on a terrace, but to hear the news bulletin I had to go to the Manager’s office; it was surprising that nobody else had the same idea. On the terrace of the next-door café there was a loud-speaker, but nobody listened to it; the news was drowned in the general chattering; and this at a time when France’s declaration of war was to be expected from hour to hour. Apparently people had given up hope of learning anything from M. Giraudoux’s lamentable news service, and they were sick of listening to those futile, tortuous communiqués and lame speeches, in which they were constantly admonished in a schoolmasterly, wrangling tone to trust their leaders (including M. Bonnet), and not to ask silly questions.


We found in Aix some new and partly contradictory posters concerning the requisitioning of cars, freshly pasted on the walls, and we had to drive all around the town until finally we found the requisitioning commission sitting at the Cavalry Barracks; but when they had had a look at Theodore, they said with a shudder that we could continue on our way to Paris and report to the commission there.


So we drove off to Avignon in the dark with our completely blind headlights. In those prehistoric days the more refined devices for dimming the lights did not yet exist, but we were now in a nervous hurry to get to Paris, and thence on to London, where I was to enlist in the Army; I felt in a way guilty about all that dawdling of the last few days, and drove at the relatively neck-breaking speed of thirty miles an hour.


But from Avignon onwards, next morning, we met a practically uninterrupted stream of Army transports and could only advance in jumps and jerks. For miles on end we passed a procession of tanks, armoured cars, lorries transporting troops, field guns and motorised cavalry, all streaming down from Lyons to the Italian frontier; and behind and in front of us was a similarly uninterrupted file of northbound, empty lorries obviously coming back to fetch more troops. All this was an encouraging sight; all the more so as such a large display of mechanised forces seemed clearly to indicate offensive movement against Italy; so perhaps after all that bobard we had heard in Toulon had only been an anticipation of events to come.


After Lyons we were clear of the traffic and spent the night in a small place in the valley of the Loire. The next day was Sunday, September 3rd; we had lunch in Pouilly, in a sunny garden overlooking the river and surrounded by vineyards. It was our last halt before Paris; in a few hours we would reach our journey’s end. We had smoked ham and a bottle of Pouilly fumé, the wine that makes you happy and wise like no other wine in the world. We looked at the river, and emptied the bottle to the last drop; and then, shortly before Melun we crossed two cars with people shouting excitedly to us; and when we stopped a mile farther on to fill up, the woman at the petrol tank told us that Britain had declared war on Germany.


On the last fifty miles to Paris the road was practically blocked by people running away from the capital in their cars and in taxis. Everybody believed that the Germans would bomb Paris immediately after the declaration of war, or even before; and everybody expected they would use some horrible new invention, and was obsessed by the idea of poison gas. There were only a few cars which fought their way with us against the stream; the disorder of this first exodus from Paris gave a tragic foretaste of that second one which was to take place ten months later and seal the fate of France.


We arrived at my flat in Paris at four o’clock in the afternoon. When I shook hands with our old concierge, she gave me a strange look. At first I thought it was only the general excitement, but when I handed her the bottle of Pouilly we had brought her, she took me to a corner of her loge, so that G. should not hear.


‘I am not allowed to tell you,’ she said, ‘but you had better leave at once. The police were here at 2 a.m. this morning; they have taken away Dr. Freeman handcuffed, and they wanted to arrest you too.’


VIII


Dr. Freeman occupied the flat next door to mine to the left. He was a doctor of medicine, and suffering from tuberculosis in an advanced stage. He had been staying for the last three months in a sanatorium in Switzerland, had rushed back to Paris to enrol as a volunteer in the French Army, and had been arrested on the very night of his arrival. He was a political refugee and his loyalty to France beyond doubt; but he was of German origin and so, after all, there might have been some explanation for his arrest.


As to myself, there was none. I am of Hungarian nationality, and Hungary was a neutral state; my parting with Communism one and a half years ago had given rise to certain comments in Left circles; and if the French secret police knew that I had been a Communist previous to 1938, they must equally well know that I was one no longer, and that I had even been repeatedly attacked by Communist papers as a ‘supporter of Imperialism.’


I was convinced that the whole matter was a mistake and that the best thing to do was to go straight to the police and ask them what they wanted of me. So we got back into the car and drove to the police station of my district. Before I went in, I told G. that if they really had a warrant against me they might possibly keep me for a while, or even send me to prison for a few days, until the matter was cleared up. G. was slightly bewildered and we took somewhat sentimental leave of each other; then I walked into the lion’s den.


Inside, there was a commissaire who knew me, thanks to Theodore’s frequent misbehaviour on the public road, which had already cost me a few hundred francs. I greeted him with a bonjour which I tried to make sound as casual as possible. ‘Bonjour,’ he said. ‘The French declaration of war has just come through. I am very busy. What can I do for you?’


I could not give away my old concierge—since the days of Fouché all the concierges of Paris are supposed to collaborate with the police and use a professional discretion. If I told them that she had warned me, she might get into serious trouble. So I said to the commissaire that I had just arrived from the Côte d’Azur and thought that, being a foreigner, I had better report to the police. And with that I handed over my identity card—in case he should have forgotten my name. He examined the card with a professional glance and said, rather annoyed: ‘I really don’t see what you want. What do you think would happen if all foreigners came running here?’


When G. saw me coming out of the station, hardly five minutes after I had gone in, she was rather disappointed; she said she had been looking forward so much to seeing me being marched off by an armed escort. (Later, when her wish was fulfilled, she did not enjoy it.)


I spent the night in my flat and nothing happened. Next day we went to the Préfecture de Police—the Paris Scotland Yard; if the local police station did not know, at headquarters they would know about this mysterious affair. I had a welcome pretext, for my identity card would expire in a few days and had in any case to be prolonged. And for that purpose, I supposed they had to look up my dossier.  Once more we said a feeling farewell, and once more I came back twenty minutes later, feeling vaguely guilty towards G., and with my identity card prolonged, stamps and all.


The drôle de guerre had begun; the days went on and nothing happened to me. Perhaps our good concierge had been dreaming? But she was not the kind of person to dream. And Dr. Freeman had disappeared without a trace. It was only a fortnight later that we learned that he was in the Santé Prison, kept in solitary confinement and prevented from consulting a solicitor or communicating with the outside world. This sounded bad enough. And there were other things of a similar kind: inexplicable arrests of apparently harmless people, who were dragged at night from their beds, handcuffed, beaten up, and clapped into a prison cell, without being interrogated and without being allowed legal support. They were not Germans—all Germans, refugees or not, had already been interned during the first days of the war.


We had planned to go on to London at once. The day after our arrival I went to the British passport office to help a friend to get his visa. I saw Captain C., the Assistant P.C.O., whom I knew. He said it might take quite a long time. ‘What a pity!’ I said, ‘I am leaving tomorrow and I thought he could come on the same boat.’ ‘I am afraid,’ said Captain C., ‘you can’t leave tomorrow either.’ ‘Why?’ I asked, very disagreeably surprised. During the last few years I had lived half the year in Paris and half in London, and my permanent twelve-month visa to the U.K. had been renewed quite recently.


‘Because,’ said Captain C., ‘all visas to the U.K. were cancelled yesterday at midnight. We have to make on your behalf an application for a new visa to the Home Secretary. I am sorry, but as from yesterday we have definite instructions not to grant any visas to foreigners without a special authorisation from London.’ ‘And how long will it be till the authorisation comes through?’ The A.P.C.O. gave a rather discouraging shrug; he could not commit himself to a definite date, but gave me to understand that I might have to wait for anything between three and six weeks. Then he made out my application to the Home Office. As ‘reason for the intended journey’ I gave ‘to join His Majesty’s Forces.’


There was nothing to do but to wait. I could have, of course, volunteered for the French Army—but the only unit open to aliens was the Foreign Legion, and I thoroughly disliked the idea of it. I had lived in France, although with long interruptions, for almost ten years and was quite willing to risk my skin for it, but on condition that I was granted the same duties and privileges as the ordinary French soldier. The tide of xenophobia swept over France with morbid rapidity, and I felt sick at the thought of remaining, even in uniform, a sale métèque, which signifies, in a scholarly translation, ‘dirty foreigner.’ So I preferred to wait until my permit from the Home Office arrived, and meanwhile expected every night to hear the police ringing at the door of my flat.


It was an uncanny feeling, and I wrote to friends in London asking them to speed up my application. Then I rang Jubert, a well-known and brilliant young barrister, and arranged lunch with him. We met on the day when the troops of the Red Army marched into Poland to liberate the Polish proletariat, calling a rape a betrothal. Jubert was in uniform; he too had once been a Soviet sympathiser—who among the intellectual élite of his generation had not?—and was in a black mood. When he heard my story, he looked worried and said it seemed a rather serious matter. He knew of a few similar cases—arbitrary arrests of people whose loyalty could not be doubted, but who, for one reason or another, were unpopular in certain high quarters. Some of the victims were personal friends of his, but in not a single case had he been able to help. He had even been given to understand that he had better keep out of it, if he wanted to avoid serious trouble for himself. The country was living under the loi des suspects,1 which gave the police practically uncontrolled power over the individual. ‘The times of Fouché have come back to France; may God preserve us from a return of the times of the guillotine!’


Half an hour ago, before I had told Jubert my story, I had feared he would accuse me of persecution mania; now I almost believed it was he who had it. He kept on talking in a low, worried tone, quite different from the nonchalant and noisily brilliant manner he had had before; most successful French lawyers behave as if constantly in the footlights. And while he talked, he kept on glancing at the neighbouring tables to make sure that nobody was listening—a habit long familiar in public places east of the Rhine and the Alps, and which now was spreading with disquieting rapidity in Paris restaurants and cafés.


‘But if they think they have anything against me,’ I asked him, ‘why haven’t they arrested me since my arrival?’


‘Whom do you mean by “they”?’ said Joubert. ‘Do you mean the Sûreté Nationale or do you mean the Deuxième Bureau, or do you mean the Préfecture of Paris? They each have their own record of you and their own black list, which are not lying about at local police stations or identity-card guichets. They proceed by periodic round-ups. You cannot go and have yourself arrested at your own leisure—that is a simply anarchist conception. You have to wait until they come for you.’


A fortnight before I had looked at the matter rather from the humorous side, and believed that the best protection against the police was consciousness of one’s own innocence. Now I began to feel like that hero of Courteline’s, who said that if he were accused of having stolen the Eiffel Tower he would not try to disculpate himself, but run away at once.


Next day Jubert rang L., a député, and L. rang D., a high official in the Ministry of the Interior, who promised that he would look the matter up. A few days later D. rang L. back, and L. rang Jubert, and Jubert rang me. To get a matter arranged in France was always a question of finding the connecting links of a chain with a given beginning and end. The disadvantage of the system was that the reliability of the chain stood in inverse ratio to its length.


This time the chain did not work at all. D., the high official, having looked into the files, had blandly refused to discuss the matter with L., although they were on very good terms. L. had expressed his regrets to Jubert. Jubert looked even more worried. This time we had met in his office.


‘There is a sort of silent pogrom going on against the people of the Left,’ he said. ‘It is chiefly directed against the Communists—but that is only one side of the matter, and in fact things are much more involved. There is a definitely pro-Bonnet gang in the Sûreté Nationale. They try to put things on people who belonged to the “anti-Munichois” camp. Then there is Spain. We are naturally keen to keep Spain out of the war, and this serves our would-be Fascists in the Sûreté and the Deuxième Bureau as a pretext to persecute the former supporters of the Loyalists. There is even a rumour that Pétain has given a verbal promise to Lequerica, Franco’s Foreign Minister, to the effect that all foreigners in France who had fought in the International Brigades or had taken a public anti-Franco attitude would be interned for the duration of the war. I don’t think they believe you still to be a Communist, but they naturally know that you were condemned to death by Franco,1 and if the Deuxième Bureau has got a copy of the Spanish black list, which doubtless it has, you are certainly among the first names on it. Things look rather black for you, cher ami.’


I asked Jubert what he would do in my place.


‘Try to get to England as soon as possible. But I wonder,’ he added, ‘whether they would give you an exit permit.’


There was no more to be said, and I took leave of Jubert. When I was at the door, he called me back and asked me, if I rang him again, to do it from a call-box, as he expected my telephone was tapped. Then he said, somewhat doubtfully:


‘There is, of course, one thing you could try: money. Some of those German film yids have got themselves released from internment by bribing officials in the Sûreté. The tariff is from twenty thousand francs upwards.’


I told him that I would not do it—firstly because I had not got twenty thousand francs, secondly because I thought it was too risky.


‘Right,’ he said. ‘I always knew you were an honourable man.’ And all of a sudden he added, in his best manner of addressing the jury in a sensational trial:


‘May God protect you on your way—and all of us in this unfortunate country.’


On the way home I mused over the expression ‘those German film yids.’ Certainly, I too hated that detestable set in the cafés and bars around the Champs Elysées, which was chiefly responsible for the widespread animosity against the German exiles, but I could not see that an Aryan member of the same racket was much more attractive. It was a sad symptom that this young spokesman of the Left, member of numerous comités against racial persecution, should be tainted by the general contagion.


A week later Jubert left for the Maginot Line. I wonder what has become of him—but this is a remark which applies to most people in this story.


Without the war, he would in due time have become a député; by and by he would have changed his sports roadster for a black limousine, his radical friends for more sedate members of society, and his seat on the left benches of the Palais Bourbon, first for one in the centre, and then on the extreme right. With the war, if he is still alive, he will probably reach the same goal by a shorter cut.


One of the things which were wrong with Left politics in France was that they seemed to be a sort of passing stage of youth, like making debts and having mistresses. The typical career of the French politician, from Clemenceau to Laval, reads like a book, from left to right; but has one ever heard of a single example of the reverse?1


IX


For thirty nights I slept with a small suitcase beside my bed, ready to go to prison at any moment. Sometimes I dreamed that I had heard the shrill ringing of my door-bell, but when I woke it was only the air-raid siren and I slept on, reassured. The arrests being usually carried out at night, I set my alarm-clock for seven in the morning; its ring was my signal for ‘danger past.’ True to the old rule, that the more you are prepared for an event, the more it takes you by surprise, they actually came for me, on the morning of October 2nd, long after my ‘all clear’ had sounded, at half-past eight.


During the first month of the war, while still at liberty, I could watch Paris turn grey. Not the people—the town. It was as if some morbid disease had attacked its very roots in the alluvial clay of the Seine Valley. The pavement in the streets had lost its magic. ‘In Mecca,’ Abu Suleiman once said, ‘the pious man should not walk on his soles, but on his head.’ In Paris everybody walked on his soles, and usually the heels, even of the women, were worn-down and askew, but one felt the vivifying current mount up to one’s head. Now the current was gone. This town has always been thought of by her lovers as a person alive—not metaphorically, but as a psychological reality. Now they felt the beloved grow cold and stony in their arms; they watched life fade out of her, inverted Pygmalions; and they walked in despair through her suddenly hostile avenues, as on tombstones.


Across the mists of the Channel, London, the broad-shouldered big brother, said: I can take it. But she couldn’t. The people of Paris could fight on barricades built of paving-stones, mattresses and bird cages, as in the heroic days of 1848, as in the days of the Commune, and in the days of Sacco and Vanzetti. Had not even the Marne, with the crazy improvisation of driving in taxis to the battlefield, been but a sort of improvised barricade fight? No, the people of Paris could not ‘take it.’ If the heroic craziness got hold of them, they could live on grilled rats and charge the enemy with their bare nails and bite the nose off his face. If. But where was the heroic craziness?


On September 6th, on the third day of the war, Gallus, the famous editorialist, wrote on the front page of L’Intransigeant:




‘Whoever pretends that we lead this war in defence of Democracy, Liberty, or any other “ideology,” is a dangerous liar. I am sick of hearing this sort of stupid babble. France fights to defend her skin, and only to defend her skin. All else is rubbish.’





After Paris-Soir, L’Intransigeant had the largest circulation of all French evening papers. It was the favourite paper of the petit employé, of typists and office workers; hundreds of thousands read it in the Metro on their way home from the office. The censorship which cut out everything of any political colour, including passages of the speeches of British statesmen and quotations from the Manchester  Guardian and Daily Herald, let this and similar poison-stuff pass without a murmur.


After this, what precise idea could the man in the Metro form of the reasons for this war? Of course, he no longer travelled in the Metro; he had to creep into a crumpled uniform and peel potatoes in the Maginot Line or some dépôt, for a pay of 50 centimes, or ¾d. a day, while his job or his shop or his office went to the dogs and his wife had to queue up at the mairie and produce document after document to get her allowance of about 80 francs, or 9s. a week. If there had been a branch of the Mass Observation movement in France or of Gallup’s Institute of Public Opinion, and if they had established a cross-section of what French people thought of the war, they would have been led to the conclusion that France had morally lost the war long before the actual military collapse.


Let us take three specimen examples of French people, who, I think, were fairly typical of the social strata they represented.


The first one is Henri de Vautrange, a salesman of motor-cars, aged thirty-two. He had been a patient of Dr. Freeman’s and had tried to sell me a Citroën. His father was fonctionnaire at the Ministry of Finance, retired after thirty-five years of service, with a coloured ribbon in his buttonhole and a starvation pension. He himself had sold cars since the age of twenty-seven, without being able to afford one of his own. The reason for this was that the high salaries of the workers ate up the nation’s income. France was in decay, thanks to the Front Populaire and the côterie of corrupt politicians, Freemasons, and Jews. International plutocracy, international Socialism, and Communism conspired together against the men of goodwill. The only salvation for France was an authoritarian régime, which would mercilessly clean the stable, as Hitler had done in Germany. Hitler might be a bit pompous and boche, but undeniably he had achieved miracles with his own people. France needed a Hitler. That is why the Front Populaire tried to drag the French people into war against him.


But the Left were not only warmongers; they had at the same time disarmed France. They had voted against military credits. Their stay-in strikes in 1936 had led the country to the brink of anarchy and disorganised war production. Pierre Cot had sold hundreds of French fighter-planes to the Reds in Spain. They encouraged the worker’s inborn laziness and greed. Forty-hour week, paid holidays, and a Ministry of Leisure! That was what it had been really called: a Ministry of Leisure. But only for the workers, of course. As to others—if he, Henry, would keep to the forty-hour week, he could starve tomorrow. Now, on the other hand, look what Hitler had done in his country. No députés, no parties, no corruption. There everybody had to work and everybody was in the place where he belonged: those who had the brains commanded, and the others obeyed. And if any of the Red gentlemen did not like it—well, please yourself, there is the next concentration camp.


This was de Vautrange’s opinion three months before the outbreak of war. He was an honest man and I do not doubt that as an officer he did his duty, at least at the beginning. But obviously he did it without conviction or enthusiasm. His morale was bound to break down with the first defeat. The de Vautranges were usually reserve officers and in the war formed the bulk of the lower ranks of the officers’ corps, from aspirant to captain. They had no contact with their men and no ideal in common with them.


There were several million Vautranges in France—they supported Laval, Bonnet, the P.P.F., the P.S.F.,1 or the Action Française. They read Gringoire, Candide, the Petit Journal, Matin, Jour, and Liberté. Most of them were honest in their convictions; their leaders were not. They were the unconscious reservoir of the Fifth Column; their leaders in the ministries and on the General Staff were conscious traitors. Scared by the bogy of a social revolution, they regarded Hitler as their saviour, just as the Condéist aristocracy of 1790 had asked for the help of the King of Prussia to crush the National Assembly.


Example No. 2 was Marcel, the mechanic in my garage in the rue Olivier de Serre. I never knew his surname—he was just Marcel, a tall, slim young man of twenty-eight, intelligent, unusually serious and a member of the S.F.I.O., the Socialist Party. He was an excellent mechanic and earned good wages—18 francs, or 2s. an hour. He treated customers rather haughtily, to the despair of his patron, fat little M. Darrouis; but he had read in the Populaire about my adventures in Spain, and although he always addressed me correctly as ‘monsieur’ and not as ‘comrade,’ he considered me as one. We used sometimes to tinker on the car together and he never permitted himself a joke although poor Theodore was a permanent provocation for a mechanic’s sense of humour. Only once did he remark when the starter, which he was trying to open, literally fell to pieces in his hands: ‘If you would write for those filthy boulevard papers, monsieur, you could soon buy a Chevrolet’ (which was quite untrue: in France the prostitutes of the pen were just as badly rewarded as their colleagues on the street corners).


Shortly before I was arrested, Marcel was sent to a munition factory as an affecté special. He was unfit for military service, owing to a shorter left leg. (His slight limp somehow contributed to the impression of earnestness and dignity which he made.) Two months later I received a letter from him, in the disciplinary camp for suspects in Le Vernet where I had been taken. The letter was written with a sovereign contempt for the censorship—it was rather astonishing that it had got through. I remember its contents very vividly.


It began by explaining that he had read about my being detained, and that he wanted to express to me his sympathy and indignation. For years the Populaire had denounced Hider’s concentration camps as a blot on European civilization, and the first thing France had done in this war against Hitler was to imitate his example. And who were in the concentration camps? The Fascists, perhaps? No, Spanish militiamen, Italian and German refugees, those who had been the first to risk their lives against Fascism. And so on. For readers of the Daily Herald or the New Statesman this is familiar stuff; in France no newspaper had been allowed to indulge in this kind of criticism. This was the first remarkable thing about Marcel’s letter.


Then it spoke shortly of his own situation. He worked now for twelve hours a day, from seven in the morning to nine in the evening, with two breaks of one hour each for lunch and dinner, Sundays included. He wondered how long he would be able to stand the strain. With all this he earned only about half of what he had earned in the garage.


He wouldn’t grumble about these hardships, if he knew whether this war were really in the interests of the working class. But this was a question he was unable to decide. It was worrying him very much; and this was actually the reason why he was writing to me.


The Communists at the works said that it was a purely imperialist war, that Daladier and Chamberlain were just as much enemies of the people as Hitler, and that the duty of the proletariat was to fight against its enemies at home, instead of serving as gun-fodder for their purposes. Put into practice, that would mean to surrender France to Hitler and the French working class to the Gestapo. But if you said so to a member of the C.P., you were a lackey of the bourgeoisie and a traitor. Half a year ago they had said exactly the contrary; they had issued fiery proclamations, urging the entire French nation, workers and bosses, to unite for the fight against the Nazi, and if you said anything critical about it, you were a Gestapo agent and a traitor. It was impossible to argue with Communists, they had a different party line every six months, and they were so fanaticized that they genuinely forgot what the last one had been; and if you reminded them, you were a Trotskyist provocateur and a traitor.


Yet, in spite of this, the Communists in the factory had a growing support. He, Marcel, always got angry if he talked to them, but he couldn’t deny that he also admired them for the manner in which they carried on with their propaganda, regardless of incessant persecution by the police. They might be wrong, but the treatment they suffered made them the heroes of the working class.


When the Communists called the war against Hitler a purely imperialist war, they were certainly wrong. But when the others called it a war for liberty and democracy, it sounded just as much of a lie. For years the Socialist Party had urged a firm stand against the totalitarians. Had their advice been accepted in time, the war could probably have been avoided. Instead, the Left had been jeered at, and accused of warmongering. The ruling class had held that Nazism was an internal affair of Germany which did not concern the French. They did not want to admit that Nazism and any form of Fascism must automatically lead to war. Because in their hearts they were half-Fascist themselves, they rejoiced when Hitler crushed the Socialist movement in Germany, and did not want to see that the solidarity of the European working class was a better guarantee of France’s security than the Maginot Line.


Perhaps it was wrong to carp at the past now that the war had begun. But it was the bourgeois Press which had started it. Marcel wondered whether I was allowed to read newspapers. If so, I would soon find out that apparently the reason for every evil had been the forty-hour week and the yearly fortnight’s leave which the Front Populaire had introduced. The ruling class had fed Hitler with credits and raw material for his armaments against France; believing that he would save them from world revolution, they had allowed him to become the bully of Europe; and now, when they found that his air force was superior to ours, everything was the fault of the few reforms towards a more humane life which the French working class had achieved after decades of struggle. Well, the forty-hour week had gone, and the 1936 tariffs had gone, and if the war for liberty were a question of sacrifices, the French working class had paid more than its share; but so far the rulers had failed to explain to them what their share of the victory was to be. Hitler, with his usual demagogy, had promised the German workers the realisation of all their Socialist aims; in France nobody had bothered even to hint at what the social order would be after the war. And if you listened to those who dreamt of reducing Germany to her state after the Napoleonic conquests and of making eighty million Germans do a century of hard labour to pay reparations, one couldn’t help wondering what fate these champions of Liberty would reserve for their own working class when victory was achieved.
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